**RECEIVED**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APR 07 2017

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No. 2015-CP-40-07254  
Appellate Case No. 2016-001710

Andrew P. Neumayer.....Respondent,

v.

Philadelphia Indemnity Insurance Company,  
Primary Colors Child Care Center, Jocelyn Knox  
DeMartelare, and Asia N. Partman..... Defendants,

Of Whom Philadelphia Indemnity Insurance Company is .....Appellant.

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

Curtis W. Dowling, S.C. Bar No. 6493  
Matthew G. Gerrald, S.C. Bar No. 76236  
Barnes, Alford, Stork & Johnson, LLP

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THAT ONLY \$25,000.00 IN COVERAGE IS AVAILABLE FOR THE UNDERLYING ACTION?
  
- II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN HOLDING THE NOTICE CLAUSES ARE VOID UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA LAW?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In September 2012, Appellant Philadelphia Indemnity Insurance Company (“Philadelphia”) issued Commercial Lines Policy No. PHPK928536 (the “Policy”) to Primary Colors Child Care Center, Inc. (“Primary Colors”) effective from September 30, 2012 to September 30, 2013. (R. p. 37). The Policy provided multiple coverages including commercial property coverage, commercial general liability coverage, commercial auto coverage, professional liability coverage, and abuse liability coverage. (R. p. 39). This case concerns the Policy’s Business Auto Coverage Form. (R. p. 56).

On or about November 8, 2013, Respondent Andrew P. Neumayer (“Neumayer”) filed a lawsuit in the Richland County Court of Common Pleas captioned *Andrew P. Neumayer v. Asia N. Partman and Primary Colors Child Care Center*, Civil Action No. 2013-CP-40-06839 (the “Underlying Action”). In the Underlying Action, Neumayer alleged that, on or about January 25, 2013, he was a pedestrian on Julius Felder Street in Lexington County, South Carolina when he was struck by a bus owned by Primary Colors and operated by Asia N. Partman (“Partman”), an employee of Primary Colors. Neumayer further alleged that Primary Colors and Partman were liable for injuries he suffered as a result of the accident.

Primary Colors and Partman failed to answer or otherwise respond to the Underlying Action and defaults were entered against them. A damages hearing was subsequently held on or about April 3, 2014, after which an Order for Damages Against Defendants was entered on or about April 7, 2014, awarding Neumayer damages against Primary Colors and Partman in the amount of \$622,500.00 and entering a judgment in the same amount (the “Judgment”). (R. p. 20).

Over 18 months later, on October 21, 2015, Philadelphia received its first notice of the Underlying Action and the Judgment when counsel for Neumayer faxed certain documents regarding the Judgment to Philadelphia. (R. p. 112, ¶ 3). Philadelphia declined to pay the judgment in full on the grounds that it was not timely notified of the Underlying Action or the service thereof upon Primary Colors and Partman and, as such, was never provided the opportunity to investigate or defend against Neumayer's claims, all in violation of the applicable terms and conditions of the Policy, specifically, the notice clauses found at Section IV.A.2.a. and Section IV.A.2.b.(2) of the Policy's Business Auto Coverage Form (the "Notice Clauses"). (R. p. 63). Philadelphia determined that, because it suffered substantial prejudice as a result of the failure by Primary Colors and Partman to comply with the Notice Clauses, its indemnification obligation is only \$25,000.00, which is the mandatory minimum limit established by S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-140(A)(1).

On December 4, 2015, Neumayer filed this declaratory judgment action, seeking a judicial declaration that Philadelphia is obligated to pay the Judgment in full. (R. p. 13). Philadelphia timely answered the Complaint and asserted a counterclaim against Neumayer and a cross-claim against Primary Colors, Jocelyn Knox DeMartelare (an owner or officer of Primary Colors), and Partman seeking a judicial declaration that its indemnification obligation with respect to the Judgment is \$25,000.00. (R. p. 25).

Neumayer and Philadelphia subsequently agreed that the determinative issue in this case—the validity and enforceability of the Notice Clauses—presented a legal question that could be resolved on summary judgment. Accordingly, in April 2016, the parties filed competing motions for summary judgment. (R. pp. 83 & 93). The motions were heard on May 18, 2016 by The Honorable L. Casey Manning. On June 7, 2016,

Judge Manning issued an Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and Denying Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment (the "Initial Order"). (R. p. 1). The Initial Order was entered on June 13, 2016. (R. p. 1). On June 23, 2016, Philadelphia filed a Motion to Alter or Amend requesting certain revisions to the Initial Order. (R. p. 105). In response to that motion, Judge Manning issued an Amended Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and Denying Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment on July 26, 2016 (the "Amended Order"). (R. p. 7). The Amended Order was entered on August 2, 2016. (R. p. 7). Philadelphia timely filed and served a Notice of Appeal of the Amended Order on August 17, 2016.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing a grant of summary judgment, an appellate court applies the same standard used by the trial court.” Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston, 378 S.C. 107, 109, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008). An appellate court “undertakes a de novo review of all issues of law, and is free to decide matters of law with no particular deference to the trial court.” Menezes v. WL Ross & Co., LLC, 403 S.C. 522, 530, 744 S.E.2d 178, 182 (2013).

Summary judgment shall be granted “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Rule 56(c), SCRPC; Singleton v. Sherer, 377 S.C. 185, 197, 659 S.E.2d 196, 202 (Ct. App. 2008). “The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite disposition of cases which do not require the services of a fact finder.” George v. Fabri, 345 S.C. 440, 452, 548 S.E.2d 868, 874 (2001). Accordingly, “when plain, palpable, and indisputable facts exist on which reasonable minds cannot differ, summary judgment should be granted.” Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc., 365 S.C. 204, 220, 616 S.E.2d 722, 729 (Ct. App. 2005).

“Under South Carolina law the construction and interpretation of an insurance policy should be determined as a matter of law by the court.” Allstate Ins. Co. v. Best, 728 F. Supp. 1263, 1266 (D.S.C. 1990) (citing Hann v. Carolina Cas. Ins. Co., 252 S.C. 518, 167 S.E.2d 420 (1969)). Insurance policy language must be given its “plain, ordinary, and popular meaning.” B.L.G. Enters., Inc. v. First Fin. Ins. Co., 334 S.C. 529, 535, 514 S.E.2d 327, 330 (1999). There is no need to employ rules of construction if the

contract language is clear and unambiguous. See, e.g., Stewart v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 341 S.C. 143, 151, 533 S.E.2d 597, 601 (Ct. App. 2000) (“When a contract is unambiguous, clear, and explicit, it must be construed according to the terms the parties have used.”). Rather, when presented with unambiguous contract language, the court’s only job is to apply the contract as written. See, e.g., Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries v. Outparcel Assocs., LLC, 374 S.C. 483, 499, 649 S.E.2d 494, 502 (Ct. App. 2007) (“Where an agreement is clear and capable of legal interpretation, the courts only function is to interpret its lawful meaning . . . and give effect to it.”) (citations and quotation marks omitted). The court must not rewrite or distort the plain meaning of unambiguous contractual language. See, e.g., Stewart, 341 S.C. at 151, 533 S.E.2d at 601 (“The judicial function of a court of law is to enforce an insurance contract as made by the parties, and not to rewrite or to distort, under the guise of judicial construction, contracts, the terms of which are plain and unambiguous.”).

“Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law[.]” Town of Summerville, 378 S.C. at 109, 662 S.E.2d at 41. “The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature.” Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). “The goal of statutory construction is to . . . prevent an interpretation that would lead to a result that is plainly absurd.” Id. at 91, 533 S.E.2d at 584. The courts are to reject interpretations that “would lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not possibly have been intended by the Legislature or would defeat the plain legislative intention.” Ray Bell Const. Co. v. Sch. Dist. of Greenville Cty., 331 S.C. 19, 26, 501 S.E.2d 725, 729 (1998).

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THAT ONLY \$25,000.00 IN COVERAGE IS AVAILABLE FOR THE UNDERLYING ACTION.

#### A. Compliance with the Notice Clauses was a condition precedent to coverage under the Policy.

The Notice Clauses, found at Section IV.A.2.a. and Section IV.A.2.b.(2) of the Policy's Business Auto Coverage Form, (R. p. 63), provide as follows:

#### SECTION IV – BUSINESS AUTO CONDITIONS

\* \* \*

#### 2. Duties In The Event Of Accident, Claim, Suit Or Loss

We have no duty to provide coverage under this policy unless there has been full compliance with the following duties:

- a. In the event of “accident”, claim, “suit” or “loss”, you must give us or our authorized representative prompt notice of the “accident” or “loss.” . . .

\* \* \*

- b. Additionally, you and any other involved “insured” must:

\* \* \*

- (2) Immediately send us copies of any request, demand, order, notice, summons or legal paper received concerning the claim or “suit”.

The language of these clauses clearly indicates that compliance therewith is a condition precedent to Philadelphia's obligations under the Policy. The title of Section IV is

“BUSINESS AUTO CONDITIONS.”<sup>1</sup> The first sentence of Section IV.A.2. states: “**We have no duty to provide coverage under this policy unless there has been full compliance with the following duties[.]**” (emphasis added). The duties are that the insured must (a) give Philadelphia prompt notice of the “accident” or “loss” and (b) immediately send Philadelphia copies of any documents concerning the claim or “suit.” According to this clear and unambiguous language, **coverage under the Policy is not triggered at all unless and until the insured complies with these duties.**<sup>2</sup>

The South Carolina Supreme Court and numerous courts from other jurisdictions have found that compliance with policy provisions—such as the Notice Clauses—which require the insured to give notice of an accident and to forward suit papers is a condition precedent to coverage. See, e.g., *Squires v. Nat’l Grange Mut. Ins. Co.*, 247 S.C. 58, 67, 145 S.E.2d 673, 677 (1965) (“It is well settled that, unless waived by the insurer, the failure of an insured to comply with policy provisions as to notice or forwarding suit papers, which are by the terms of the contract made conditions precedent to liability, will

---

<sup>1</sup> Black’s Law Dictionary lists two definitions for the term “condition.” The first is “[a] future and uncertain event on which the existence or extent of an obligation or liability depends; an uncertain act or event that triggers or negates a duty to render a promised performance.” CONDITION, Black’s Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014). The second, which defines the term as it is used in the contractual context, is “[a] stipulation or prerequisite in a contract, will, or other instrument, constituting the essence of the instrument.” *Id.* The second definition is followed by a further explanation: “If a court construes a contractual term to be a condition, then its untruth or breach will entitle the party to whom it is made to be discharged from all liabilities under the contract.” *Id.*

<sup>2</sup> The South Carolina Supreme Court has imposed an additional requirement that, in order for a liability insurer to avoid coverage for a third party claim due to an insured’s failure to comply with a policy condition, the insurer must suffer substantial prejudice. See, e.g., *Evans v. Am. Home Assur. Co.*, 252 S.C. 417, 420, 166 S.E.2d 811, 813 (1969) (“[I]t is settled law with us that a liability insurer may successfully defend upon the ground that the insured has violated the cooperation clause of the policy only when the breach has been material and has resulted in substantial prejudice to the insurer.”).

bar recovery.”); Hatchett v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 244 S.C. 425, 435, 137 S.E.2d 608, 613 (1964) (“It is well settled that, unless waived by the insurer, the failure of an insured to comply with policy provisions as to notice or forwarding suit papers, which are by the terms of the contract made conditions precedent to liability, will bar recovery.”).<sup>3</sup>

B. Due to the failure of Primary Colors and Partman to comply with the Notice Clauses, coverage was not triggered at all under the terms of the Policy.

“Both the obligation to indemnify and the obligation to defend are inchoate, conditional, contingent obligations to the insured.” Howard v. Allen, 254 S.C. 455, 460, 176 S.E.2d 127, 129 (1970). “Before they come into play there must be an external event within the coverage of the policy **and the performance of all conditions precedent by the insured[.]**” Id. at 460-61, 176 S.E.2d at 129 (emphasis added). In this case, even though the Underlying Action asserted claims which would have fallen within the coverage of the Policy, **Primary Colors and Partman failed to comply with the Notice**

---

<sup>3</sup> See also UNUM Life Ins. Co. of Am. v. Ward, 526 U.S. 358, 369 (1999) (“Insurance policies . . . frame timely notice provisions as conditions precedent to be satisfied by the insured before an insurer’s contractual obligation arises.”); Maryland Cas. Co. v. W.R. Grace & Co. - Conn., 1:88-cv-04337-JSM, 1994 WL 167962, at \*5 (S.D.N.Y. Apr. 29, 1994) (“[T]imely notice of occurrence and suit are conditions precedent to the duty to defend.”); Country Mut. Ins. Co. v. Livorsi Marine, Inc., 833 N.E.2d 871, 873 (Ill. Ct. App. 2004) (“When the contract includes a provision requiring the insured to notify the insurer of a suit against it, the notice provision is a condition precedent to the triggering of the insurer’s contractual duties.”) (citation and quotation marks omitted); Colonial Ins. Co. v. Barrett, 542 S.E.2d 869, 874 (W. Va. 2000) (“The satisfaction of the notice provision in an insurance policy is a condition precedent to coverage for the policyholder.”); State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Porter, 272 S.E.2d 196, 200 (Va. 1980) (“The giving of notice of the accident, the giving of notice of suit, and the forwarding of suit papers were conditions precedent to coverage under the policy[.]”); Kolibczynski v. Aetna Life & Cas. Co., 410 A.2d 485, 487 (Conn. 1979) (“The insured’s duty to comply with the insurance policy in forwarding the complaint and all suit papers was a condition precedent to the [insurer’s] duty to defend.”).

**Clauses**—a condition precedent to coverage—and Philadelphia suffered substantial prejudice as a result.<sup>4</sup> **Accordingly, coverage under the Policy was never triggered.**

C. There is nevertheless \$25,000.00 in coverage available under the Policy pursuant to South Carolina law, but no more.

Based solely on the terms of the Policy, no coverage is available for the Underlying Action whatsoever. However, pursuant to Shores v. Weaver, 315 S.C. 347, 433 S.E.2d 913 (Ct. App. 1993), and its progeny, mandatory minimum coverage under a motor vehicle liability insurance policy may not be voided for an innocent third party due to an insured's breach of a policy condition. The current mandatory minimum coverage limit, pursuant to Section 38-77-140(A)(1), is \$25,000.00. Accordingly, **South Carolina law imposes an obligation upon Philadelphia to provide coverage under the Policy in the amount of \$25,000.00, but no more.** See, e.g., United Servs. Auto. Ass'n v. Markosky, 340 S.C. 223, 230-31, 530 S.E.2d 660, 664 (Ct. App. 2000) (holding that

---

<sup>4</sup> For purposes of the current dispute, which turns on whether the Notice Clauses are valid and enforceable, Neumayer does not contest that Primary Colors and Partman failed to comply with the Notice Clauses or that Philadelphia suffered substantial prejudice as a result. Rather, his sole argument (at the present time) is that the Notice Clauses are void and unenforceable pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-142.

If Neumayer were to argue that Philadelphia has not suffered substantial prejudice, he would fail as a matter of law because the “obvious function” of insurance policy notice provisions “is to prevent prejudice to the insurer’s right to conduct a reasonable investigation of the accident and adequately defend any action brought against the insured.” Factory Mut. Liab. Ins. Co. of Am. v. Kennedy, 256 S.C. 376, 381, 182 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1971). This case presents a textbook example of substantial prejudice in that Philadelphia was unquestionably denied any opportunity to investigate or defend against Neumayer’s claims in the Underlying Action. See also St. Paul Mercury Ins. Co. v. Am. Bank Holdings, Inc., 819 F.3d 728, 736 (4th Cir. 2016) (“When a late notice precludes an insurer from exercising meaningful contractual rights provided to it by the policy—in this case, *all* the contractual rights—we agree with the district court that the insurer has suffered actual prejudice.”) (italics in original); Harwell v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 896 S.W.2d 170, 174 (Tex. 1995) (“The failure to notify an insurer of a default judgment against its insured until after the judgment has become final and nonappealable prejudices the insurer as a matter of law.”).

where an insured fails to comply with a notice clause and the failure results in substantial prejudice to the insurer, the policy provides no coverage in excess of the mandatory minimum coverage limit). The Circuit Court thus erred in finding that Philadelphia is obligated to provide coverage in excess of \$25,000.00.

## **II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THE NOTICE CLAUSES ARE VOID UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA LAW.**

In rejecting the analysis set forth in Section I, *infra*, the Circuit Court held the Notice Clauses are void and unenforceable pursuant to Section 38-77-142 and Williams v. Government Employees Insurance Co. (GEICO), 409 S.C. 586, 762 S.E.2d 705 (2014). However, nothing in Section 38-77-142 or Williams affected the validity of notice clauses in motor vehicle liability insurance policies.

### **A. The Notice Clauses are not invalid under Section 38-77-142.**

Section 38-77-142 contains three subsections. Subsections (A) and (B), though their wording varies slightly, require more or less the same thing, i.e. that insurance policies issued or delivered in South Carolina or covering motor vehicles primarily used in South Carolina must insure the named insured and permissive users against liability “within the coverage of the policy.” Subsection (C) provides that “[a]ny endorsement, provision, or rider attached to or included in any policy of insurance which purports or seeks to limit or reduce the coverage afforded by the provisions required by [subsections (A) and (B)] is void.” The Circuit Court found that Philadelphia is attempting to use the Notice Clauses to improperly “reduce” the \$1 million in coverage available under the Policy to the mandatory minimum limit of \$25,000.00 in violation of Section 38-77-142(C). The Circuit Court, therefore, invalidated the Notice Clauses as contrary to South Carolina statutory law.

The Amended Order fails to take into consideration that **coverage under the Policy was never triggered in the first place** because Primary Colors and Partman did not comply with the Notice Clauses, which are conditions precedent to coverage. Accordingly, there is no liability “within the coverage of the policy” under Sections 38-77-142(A) and (B) which could potentially be limited or reduced by a provision prohibited by Section 38-77-142(C). **Section 38-77-142 is inapplicable under these circumstances**, and the only coverage available under the Policy is minimum limits coverage pursuant to Shores.

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