THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

APR 10 2017
SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2015-CP-40-07254
Appellate Case No. 2016- 001710

Andrew P. Neumayer, Respondent,
v.
Philadelphia Indemnity Insurance Company,
Primary Colors Child Care Center, Jocelyn Knox
DeMartelare, and Asia N. Partman, Defendants,
of whom
Philadelphia Indemnity Insurance Company is Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

John S. Nichols, SC Bar No. # 4210
Blake A. Hewitt, SC Bar No. # 73674
Bluestein, Nichols, Thompson & Delgado, LLC
Post Office Box 7965
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
bhewitt@bntdlaw.com

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

should reject this argument.

PIC quotes from *Squires v. National Grange Mut. Ins. Co.*, 247 S.E.2d 58, 145 S.E.2d 673 (1965) and *Hatchett v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.*, 244 S.C. 425, 137 S.E.2d 608 (1964) that “It is well settled that, unless waived by the insurer, the failure of an insured to comply with policy provisions as to notice or forwarding suit papers, which are by the terms of the contract made conditions precedent to liability, will bar recovery.” (App. Br. p. 13). PIC’s argument is that under *Squires* and *Hatchett*, PIC owed no duty to respond to Plaintiff’s judgment at all. The Court should not be persuaded by these cases.

The facts in *Hatchett* occurred in 1962, prior to the enactment of the South Carolina Automobile Reparation Reform Act of 1974. *See Shores v. Weaver*, 315 S.C. 347, 351, 433 S.E.2d 913, 915 (Ct. App. 1993) (noting the Act was passed in 1974). Furthermore, *Hatchett* involved a claim for uninsured motorist (UM) coverage under a voluntary insurance contract. The contract provided expressly “No action shall lie against the Company unless, as a *condition precedent* thereto, the Insured or his legal representative has fully complied with all the terms of this endorsement.” *Hatchett*, at 429, 137 S.E.2d at 610 (emphasis added). The insured obtained a default judgment against the at-fault uninsured motorist and then sued his own insurer, Nationwide, for refusing to pay the judgment when proffered. Nationwide had refused based upon the “condition precedent” language in the UM endorsement.

The circuit court found for the insured and Nationwide appealed. The Supreme Court noted the insured claimed the “condition precedent” clause, which incorporated “proof of claim” and “notice of legal action” clauses, violated the UM statute that existed at the time. The Supreme Court disagreed. The Court noted that in 1963 the legislature amended the UM

statute to provide:

* * * No action shall be brought under the uninsured motorist provision unless copies of the pleadings in the action establishing such liability are served in the manner provided by law upon the insurance carrier writing such uninsured motorist provision. The insurance carrier may appear and defend in the name of the uninsured motorist in any action which may affect its liability, and shall have twenty days after service of process on it in which to make such appearance. The evidence of service upon the insurance carrier shall not be made a part of the record.

Hatchett, at 433, 137 S.E.2d at 612. The Court found this amendment corrected a “defect” which left the statute silent as to the procedure available to an insurance company to defend a claim under the UM endorsement provision of the policy. The Court held the UM statute was never intended to hold an insurance company liable without notice or opportunity to investigate or contest the UM claim. The Court found the policy provisions were not in conflict with the terms of the existing Act and were valid. *Hatchett* at 434, 137 S.E.2d at 612.

The Court stated:

The policy provisions, which we have held to be valid, required, as conditions precedent to any right of recovery by the insured, that notice of claim under the uninsured motorist endorsement be given to the company as soon as practicable, and that upon the commencement of legal action a copy of the summons and complaint be forwarded to the insurer immediately.

Id. The Court held that the insured’s failure to comply with policy provisions in his *own* insurance contract as to notice or forwarding suit papers, which were “by the terms of the contract made conditions precedent to liability,” barred recovery. *Hatchett*, at 435, 137 S.E.2d at 613.

Hatchett is of limited force in this matter. The case involved: (1) an application of the early 1960s UM statute which predated the enactment of wholesale mandatory

automobile insurance in South Carolina by nearly a dozen years; (2) an insured seeking to recover under his own policy; and (3) an express policy provision describing notice of a claim as a “condition precedent” to recovery under the UM endorsement. In this case a third-party injured person seeks recovery under the current insurance laws as set forth by the General Assembly and as construed by relevant case law.

Squires is likewise of limited use. *Squires* quoted from *Hatcher* for the rule PIC set forth in its brief. *Squires* also involved an insured’s claim under an uninsured motorist provision in his own policy upon facts that took place in 1961, over a dozen years before enactment of the mandatory automobile insurance system in this State. The insured in *Squires* was able to recover because the at-fault driver was initially insured but was deemed uninsured at a later date, and the insured sent the pleadings to his own insurer “as soon as practicable” after learning of the uninsured status of the at-fault.

The key to both *Hatchett* and *Squires* was application of a contract provision that set forth express “conditions precedent” against claims by the policy’s own insured against coverage. Under the UM statute that existed at the time, the insured’s failure to give notice required by his own contract with his own insurer would have precluded his recovery under his own policy. Each of these cases is distinct from the case before the Court in very meaningful ways.

The same is true of every foreign case PIC cites in a footnote in its brief. (App. Br. p. 14, n. 4). For instance, *UNUM Life Ins. Co. of Am. v. Ward*, 526 U.S. 358 (1999) involved a claim by an insured against his own ERISA-based long-term group disability policy issued by UNUM. The United States District Court held California’s “notice/prejudice” rule fell

under ERISA's pre-emption clause and was thus inapplicable. The Ninth Circuit reversed, and the US Supreme Court agreed with the Ninth Circuit. In its opinion, the Supreme Court stated, "Insurance policies *like UNUM's* frame timely notice provisions as conditions precedent to be satisfied by the insured before an insurer's contractual obligation arises." *Id.*, at 369 (emphasis added). PIC cited the case for this language, but conspicuously omitted the emphasized words "like UNUM's." Importantly, the Supreme Court concluded:

In sum, the Ninth Circuit properly concluded that notice-prejudice is a rule of law governing the insurance relationship distinctively. We reject UNUM's contention that the rule merely restates a general principle disfavoring forfeitures and conclude instead that notice-prejudice, as a matter of common sense, regulates insurance.

UNUM, at 373. At bottom, *UNUM* does not advance the analysis applicable to this case, that is, whether an at-fault insured who fails to forward the papers may prejudice the ability of a third party injured by that insured to claim against the at-fault's liability policy.

Maryland Cas. Co. v. W.R. Grace & Co.-Conn., No. 88-CIV-4337-JSM, 1994 WL 167962 (S.D. N.Y. Apr. 29, 1994) is also not helpful. This case is an unpublished order from the United States District Court and involved the duty of an insurer to defend regulatory actions brought against its insured, W.R. Grace. The district court did not say what type of policy was involved but it appears to have been a CGL policy covering liability for environmental claims against W.R. Grace. In any event, the case involved a dispute between the insurer and its own insured, and the issue of whether the insured had given appropriate notice under the policy to trigger the duty to defend the insured. *Maryland Casualty* is therefore distinct from this case in very meaningful ways.

Likewise *Country Mut. Ins. Co. v. Livorsi Marine, Inc.*, is not helpful. 833 N.E.2d

871 (Ill. Ct. App. 2004), *affirmed* 856 N.E.2d 338 (2006). *Livorsi Marine* involved a claim under a general liability insurance policy for a defense to a trademark lawsuit. The Illinois appellate court noted:

This insurance coverage case raises a question that has not been squarely answered in this State: When an insured is required by its contract with its insurer to give timely notice of a lawsuit against it, but does not do so and has no excuse for not doing it, does the insurer have to prove prejudice before it can avoid coverage? We conclude this insurer did not have to prove it was prejudiced by an unreasonably late notice of a lawsuit.

Id., at 81-882. This holding alone distinguishes the case from South Carolina law. Furthermore, the dispute in *Livorsi Marine* was between the insurer and its own insured and involved whether the insurer owed a duty to defend the insured; the case did not involve statutory insurance coverage.

In *Colonial Ins. Co. v. Barrett*, 542 S.E.2d 869 (W. Va. 2000), the narrow issue was whether a notice of suit provision in an automobile liability policy may be satisfied when the insurer receives notice of the suit from the injured party rather than its own insured. The Supreme Court of West Virginia held that it may. Importantly, the Court was not construing the effect of a statute similar to Section 38-77-142 or the rules similar to those set forth in *Shores v. Weaver* and *Williams v. GEICO*.

State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Porter, 272 S.E.2d 196 (Va. 1980) involved application of the following specific Virginia statutory provision to all terms of the automobile insurance contract:

(a1) Nor shall any such policy ... be so issued ... unless it contains an endorsement or provision insuring the named insured and any other person responsible for the use of ... the motor vehicle ... notwithstanding the failure or refusal of the named insured or such other person to cooperate with the

insurer under the terms of the policy; *provided, however, that if such failure or refusal prejudices the insurer in the defense of an action for damages arising from the operation or use of such motor vehicle, then this endorsement or provision shall be void.*

Porter at 199 (emphasis added). This provision does not exist under South Carolina's automobile insurance code. The closest provision under South Carolina's code provides:

* * * If an insurer has actual notice of a motion for judgment or complaint having been served on an insured, the mere failure of the insured to turn the motion or complaint over to the insurer may not be a defense to the insurer, nor void the endorsement or provision, nor in any way relieve the insurer of its obligations *to the insured*, provided the insured otherwise cooperates and in no way prejudices the insurer.

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-77-142(B) (1997) (emphasis added). Thus, the failure to cooperate affects *only* the obligation the insurer owes to its insured and no one else. *Cowan v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 357 S.C. 625, 629, 594 S.E.2d 275, 277 (2004) ("In plain and ordinary terms, this sentence in § 38-77-142(B) governs only the relationship between an insurer and its insured."). Importantly, unlike the Virginia statute, South Carolina's statute does *not* declare the failure to cooperate voids the coverage entirely.

Finally, *Kolibczynski v. Aetna Life and Cas. Co.*, 410 A.2d 485 (Conn. 1979) involved a dram shop claim against a restaurant under a commercial premises liability policy. The case did not involve a claim under a statute governing the terms of automobile liability insurance or any provision similar to Section 38-77-142. The statement by the Connecticut court regarding an insured's duty to forward suit papers as a "condition precedent" to the insurer's duty to defend therefore is not persuasive in this matter.

The Court should reject PIC's argument that under South Carolina law compliance with the notice provision is a "condition precedent" to any coverage.

B. PIC's Argument that Coverage was Not Triggered At All is Wrong

In a one-paragraph argument, PIC contends that because the Center and Partman failed to comply with the notice clauses, those clauses are conditions precedent to coverage, and because PIC suffered "substantial prejudice" as a result, "coverage under the Policy was never triggered." (App. Br. pp. 13-14). These assertions are contrary to the language of Section 38-77-142 and the holdings of *Shores v. Weaver*, *Cowan v. Allstate*, and *Williams v. GEICO*. This Court should reject PIC's contention out of hand.

First, PIC contends summarily that it suffered prejudice. (App. Br. p. 14, n. 4). PIC does not proffer any defense it might have had to Plaintiff's claims against the Center, Partman or DeMartelare, nor does it assert the assessment of damages was excessive. Although PIC provided an affidavit by its employee Kevin Gray that PIC "was deprived of its right to conduct a reasonable investigation of [Plaintiff's] allegations and defendant against the Tort Action," (R.p.112, ¶ 5), Mr. Gray does not assert that the Center had any defense of merit to either liability for Plaintiff's claim or the amount of Plaintiff's damages.

Second, under *Shores v. Weaver*, the at-fault insured's failure to forward the suit papers will not affect the injured third-party's ability to make a claim under the at-fault insured's liability policy. The failure to give notice will most certainly impact the relationship between the insurer and its own insured, and might relieve the insurer of any duties to its own insured as set forth in Section 38-77-142(B). But that failure will not affect the insured's obligation to provide coverage as set forth in the Policy to the innocent third-party injured by the insured.

C. Coverage Is Not Limited to \$25,000.00 under South Carolina Law

PIC reiterates “[b]ased solely on the terms of the Policy, no coverage is available for the Underlying Action whatsoever.” (App. Br. p. 14). PIC argues that under case law “mandatory minimum coverage under a motor vehicle liability insurance policy may not be voided for an innocent third party due to an insured’s breach of a policy condition.” (App. Br. p. 14). PIC points out that under Code Section 38-77-140(A)(1), the mandatory minimum is currently \$25,000.00. (App. Br. p. 14). PIC contends this means it must provide coverage under the Policy of \$25,000.00, “but no more.” (App. Br. p. 14). The Court should not be persuaded by this argument.

PIC relies primarily upon *United Services Auto. Ass’n v. Markosky*, 340 S.C. 223, 530 S.E.2d 660 (Ct. App. 2000) to support its argument. *Markosky*, however, does not control.

The time-line here is important. In 1993, the Court of Appeals held that with the enactment of the Automobile Reparation Reform Act in 1974, South Carolina became a mandatory automobile insurance state. *Shore v. Weaver*, 315 S.C. 347, 351-352, 433 S.E.2d 913, 915 (Ct. App. 1993). The Court of Appeals described the public policies underlying the Act and held “in accordance with the public purpose of protecting innocent third parties through mandatory insurance Weaver’s violation of a provision in the policy providing this mandatory minimal coverage did not defeat or void that coverage.” *Shores*, at 355, 433 S.E.2d at 917. The Court concluded:

[W]e hold, as a matter of public policy, the minimum limits automobile liability insurance policy involved in this case was not defeated or voided by Weaver’s failure to comply with policy notice provisions after the accident resulting in Johnson’s injuries, because the coverage was mandated by the legislature to protect innocent third parties, such as Johnson.

Id., at 356, 433 S.E.2d at 917.

About four years after *Shores*, the legislature enacted § 38-77-142, effective March 1, 1999. See *Cowan v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 357 S.C. 625, 628, 594 S.E.2d 275, 277 (2004) (noting this fact).

The next case to address this issue was *Markosky* (decided in 2000) in which the Court of Appeals described the holding of *Shores* to be:

as a matter of public policy, that a minimum limits automobile liability insurance policy was not defeated or voided by the insured's failure to comply with policy notice provisions after the accident, because the coverage was mandated by the legislature to protect innocent third parties.

Markosky, at 227-228, 530 S.E.2d at 663. The Court then found persuasive North Carolina statutory and case law that permitted enforcement of a notice provision as to amounts in excess of minimal limits. The Court concluded:

In this case, the parties agreed Frazier failed to comply with the policy's terms and conditions, resulting in substantial prejudice to State Farm. We find no conflicting statutory provision overriding State Farm's authority to avoid coverage in excess of the statutory minimum limits under these circumstances. Therefore, we hold State Farm owes no further coverage under the policy.

Id., at 230-231, 530 S.E.2d at 664.

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